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1. Introduction

The author was asked by Faber Maunsell, on behalf of their client, Scottish Water, to carry out an archaeological desk-based assessment of the general area of the proposed water mains renewals between Lonmore and Charlestown on Loch Gairloch, including Mial, north of Strath, and An Aird, west of Flowerdale. The object of the evaluation ws to identify known archaeological sites and areas of archaeological interest and predict the existence of further archaeological features or deposits based on information in readily available archive sources, and to assess the potential impact of work on the known or predicted archaeological record. 

Where the evaluation concludes that work in any particular section is likely to have an impact on archaeology, recommendations will be made for further investigation, possibly in the form of a walk-over survey to ascertain whether any unrecorded features are visible on the ground, to enable sections of route of the water mains to be altered before work commences. Where alteration of routes proves impractical, further recommendations will be made for monitoring of work or recording of features which may be adversely affected.

Any decisions on further evaluation of the area or mitigating measures will be made in consultation with the senior archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council Archaeology Unit.

2. Area Description

Loch Gairloch is a sea loch, approximately 3.5 miles long (E-W) and 1.5 miles broad. The main river flowing into the loch is the Kerry, from the SE, with lesser rivers at Badachro to the south and Flowerdale to the east.  Settlements are scattered along the coastline, but the land rises steeply from the shore, particularly to the east and south, and the only arable land is on the south-facing slopes to the north of the loch where the village now commonly known as Gairloch is located. Many of the croft buildings are derelict, and, following a marked increase in population through the 1980s and 90s, new housing has been erected on former croft land. Gairloch High School, with its associated playing fields, sports centre and car parking, now occupies the greater part of Auchtercairn. South along the lochside has seen relatively little modern development, probably due to the lack of suitable land for building, apart from along the south side of An Aird beyond Gairloch harbour.

3. Data Sources

The following databases and other sources were consulted during this evaluation:

Highland Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council in Inverness

RCAHMS database ‘CANMORE’

1st edition Ordnance Survey map

Early maps held by the Map Library within the National Library of Scotland

Background information on the history and built heritage of the area was obtained from the following sources:

Beaton, E: Ross and Cromarty, an Illustrated Architectural Guide, 1992

Caird, JB: The Making of the Gairloch Crofting Landscape in Peoples and Settlement in North West Ross, ed JR Baldwin, 1994

Dixon, JH: Gairloch and Guide to Loch Maree, 1886

4. Archaeological Background

Most of the antiquities in the Gairloch area were noted during land improvement during the latter half of the 19th century, although recent pre-development surveys are still locating hut circles and other evidence for prehistoric settlement and land use. Early settlement was not confined to the coast; an extensive settlement of scattered hut circles, dating from about 1500BC to 500AD or later, stretches across the peninsula between Gairloch and Loch Ewe. Within the parish are several defensive structures, notably the island fortifications in Loch Maree, Loch Tollie and Loch Ewe. The Dun, or Castle of Gairloch, at NB 8025 7535, is a multi-period site, traces of vitrification indicating its prehistoric origins. It was occupied by the McLeod chiefs of Gairloch until the beginning of the 16th century.

Three undated burials either prehistoric or early Mediaeval in date, were located during construction of the Free church in 1896, and a cist burial at Auchtercairn in 1949 during development for housing. A carved Pictish symbol stone portraying an eagle and a salmon was found around 1880, also at Auchtercairn.

5. Historical Background and Evidence from Early Maps
Mediaeval and early modern settlement and land use continued to occupy the same ground as in the prehistoric period. Settlement appears to have gradually shifted towards the coast, possibly reflecting a greater dependence on fishing, but hill fields, or achadhan, still visible as irregular enclosures of improved ground, continued to be used until the mid 19th century. The main settlements in the late Mediaeval period were recorded by Pont’s survey of the 1580s, published as Blaeu’s Atlas Novus  in 1654. Within the area covered by this evaluation are recorded Erdull and Viroill (in approximately the area of Lonmore) Meall (Mial) Achagacharn (Auchtercairn) and Heglis Gherloch (Gairloch Parish Church) While these were the main townships, other smaller settlements whose names are no longer recorded on the map, survive in local stories, for example the hamlet of Clachan Garbh, thought to be half way between Auchtercairn and the Gairloch Hotel.

John Thomson’s map of 1826 adds the township of Ballygown, north of Mihole (Mial). This Gaelic name, Baile na Ghobhainn, later anglicised to Smithstown, is probably a reference to the exploitation of bog iron, or bloomeries. (Dixon records: ‘at the back of [Smithstown] there was formerly much bog iron’)

Roy’s military survey of the 1750s shows a landscape of clustered settlements and irregular areas of unenclosed arable land. The only improved farmland is in the area surrounding Flowerdale House, built in 1738

With the reorganisation of the former townships into croft holdings in 1846, the old townships were broken up and individual tenants settled on lots, not in strips down to the shore as in other crofting areas where fishing was being encouraged, but on a grid pattern, each lot being 2-5 acres in size. Many lots were created on improvable moorland with no existing arable. The new crofting townships acquired the names Lonmore, Smithstown, Upper and Lower Mial, all within the area now known as Strath. Dixon describes Strath as a fishing village, although there has never been a pier or harbour, and boats would have come ashore at Port an Fhasaich, Port an Loin Mhoir and Port Mihol.

Auchtercairn Farm was created in 1865, and a salmon station is recorded here in the 1880s.

6. Archaeological Sites

The following recorded archaeological sites and features and sites of historical interest lie within the area of this evaluation. This list runs from NW (Lonmore) to SE (Charlestown) Standing and occupied buildings are not included in the list unless they have associated features which may be affected.

1. Am Fasach: Hut Circle at NG 7791 7751, SMR no. NG77NE0004. Located by survey work in 1989 before the modern housing development, the hut circle survives within the enclosed area to the NW of the development, but it can be assumed that any associated features will have been destroyed by the construction of houses, access roads and amenities.

2. Am Fasach: Hut Circle at NG 7801 7750, SMR no. NG77NE0023. Located by survey work in 1989 before the modern housing development, this feature survives in the garden of the NE house. It will not itself be affected, and it can be assumed that any associated features will have been destroyed by development.

3. Lonemore, Mial, Smithstown, Townships, centred on NG 790 775, SMR no. NG77NE0014. The pre-Crofting townships of Erdull, Viroill, Meall and Baile na Gobhainn, nucleated clusters of dwellings associated with irregular unenclosed areas of rig cultivation, overlaid by the grid pattern of crofts, each square lot containing one croft house and outbuildings. Many of the croft buildings are derlict or demolished to make way for modern housing. No systematic study of the area has been carried out to identify surviving pre-Crofting features  or record 19th century buildings before their disappearance. Previous archaeological surveys, for example S. Farrell, 2002, Survey of the proposed route of Gairloch Water Supply, have identified a number of unrecorded buildings, structures and enclosures, some of which will be found to date to the pre-Crofting period. Most of these appear to be associated with a new section of main running down the east side of the croft lands from Corriechoille to Glac a Chnoic. 

Two areas containing clusters of buildings, both roofed and ruinous, were noted on the 1st edition OS map. These may be survivals of a pre-Crofting clachan.

1. Centred on NG 790 776. A cluster of seven buildings. Four of these were located in the grounds of the modern house and are not recorded on the present OS map, so must be presumed to have been demolished. Threewere located in the field immediately to the west, where one unroofed structure is recorded on the present map. The water main passes directly through the location of one building, an unroofed, two-compartmented house aligned N-S with a small attached enclosure to the east. A third building was located immediately south of this.

2. Centred on  NG 7960 7775. A cluster of eleven roofed buildings, of which two appear to be long houses, aligned NW-SE. Most of the buildings recorded here on the present map do not correspond to these, and would appear to be modern. A group of three structures between the modern buildings and the stream to the west probably do belong to this original cluster. The existing water main passes through the location of one building, south of the modern buildings.

A more detailed examination of the areas where renewal work is to take place would be advisable, in the form of an archaeological walk-over survey  to identify all standing features and put them in a context of the pre-Crofting or the Crofting landscape.As a general rule for work within the area of the crofts, damage to ruins and dykes should be avoided where possible, and dykes should be restored in their original style when work is completed.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

4. Smithstown, farm or barn (demolished) at NG 7922 7741, SMR no. NG77NE0022. This site will be unaffected by the present work.

5. Pollnacreadha, Farmstead at NG 795 782, SMR no. NG77NE0015. This farmstead is recorded on the 1st edition OS map as three roofed and one unroofed buildings and an enclosure, and it is recorded on the present OS map as a roughly oval enclosed area bounded to the east by the Abhainn Bhail Ghobhainn, with two structures in the SW corner and two central. This has the appearance of a pre-improvement farmstead surviving outwith the grid of crofts. The present water main crosses the SE part of the farmstead. This area appears to have been investigated by S. Farrell in 2002, Survey of the Proposed Route of Gairloch Water Supply Project, presumably the date of the construction of the original water main here. This survey located the following features in the vicinity of the pipeline route:

1. Dykes at NG 7930 7807

2. Clearance cairns, walls at NG 7938 7810

3. Buildings at NG 7940 7820

           It can be assumed that at the time the new water main route was adjusted to avoid these features, and that no other unrecorded features are located in the vicinity of the water main.

6. Mial, Hut Circle at NG 7989 7836, SMR no. NG77NE0003. One hut circle, 6m in diameter, with a later rectangular rubble bothy attached. These sit on a terrace supported by a retaining wall, and a low dyke runs from the hut circle to an enclosed oval area to the west. These features lie outwith the croft land and will not themselves be affected, but, together with a large number of hut circles to the east of Mial crofts, are indicative of extensive prehistoric settlement in this area. There is the possibility of unrecorded settlement features lying within the croft area. 

7. Port Mial, Corn and Barley Mill and Lade at NG 7962 7730, SMR no. NG77NE0024. The mill buildings are standing and occupied, and will not be affected. The lade branched from the Abhainn Bhail Ghobhainn at NG 7950 7754 and ran SE to the Mial road before curving SW to run down to the mill. It can still be traced as a landscape boundary feature running through the modern housing development, but it is unlikely that any structural features survive. The point where it branches from the stream, where there may have been a sluice, will not be affected by the present work.

8. Auchtercairn, cist burial, carved symbol stone at NG 7997 7221, SMR no. NG77NE0001. Located on ‘low sandy ground 25 yards west of Achadh a’ Chairn Burn’ during housing development in 1949. This can be presumed no longer to exist as an archaeological site.

9. Carn Mor, cairn at NG 8007 7702, SMR no. NG87NW0001. This cairn was already almost completely removed at the time of the 1st edition OS map. The OS Name Book records: ‘The site of an old cairn NW of Achadh a’Chairn, but no traces of it can be seen except a slight rise on the surface of the ground. This site lies under modern development and can be presumed to no longer exist as an archaeological site.

10. An Cachaileath Dearg, hut circle at NG 804 766, SMR no. NG87NW0019. This site is described as being in a fenced grassy park about 120m north of the modern sheepfold and 20m south of the gate on the park fence. This would place it at least 100m east of the road, and it is unlikely to be affected.

11. Clachan Garbh, township at NG 805 765. The approximate site of a former small settlement of houses, not recorded on any early maps. Dixon describes it as being halfway between Auchtercairn and the hotel, on a small burn. There is probably no archaeological trace of this site, whose precise location is unknown, and no action need be taken to locate or protect it.

12. Caisteal na Cloinne at NG 8038 7593, SMR no. NG87NW0014. Recorded on the SMR as a placename, ‘Rock of the Children’,taken from the OS Name Book and considered to have no archaeological features. It was the NW corner of the boundary between MacLeod and Mackenzie lands around 1517, a lookout point for the Macleods and meeting place between the two clan chiefs. Any associated archaeology is unlikely to be affected by the present work

13. War Memorial at NG 8057 7589, SMR no. NG87NW0050. This is a visible standing feature at the roadside and is unlikely to be affected

14. Cnoc a’Croiche ‘Gallows Hill’ at NG 8056 7582 (site of). Dixon records ‘The Gallows Hill is a small knowe close below the high road, on the south side of the ridge called the Crasg…..a few stones still show that there used to be a wall which formed a small platform on which the gallows stood; they say that this was was more complete within living memory than it is now. The ravine or fissure immediately below the platform provided an effectual ‘drop’’ This feature may have been removed by modern road improvements and its precise location is uncertain, other than that it must be directly above a fissure in the rocky shoreline.

15. Gairloch Old Burial Ground at NG 8066 7573, SMR no. NG87NW0002, Listed B. The original church dedicated to St Maelrubha, of which there is now no trace, is thought to have been in the centre of the burial ground. The second church was in existence before 1628, was rebuilt in 1751 but ruinous by 1791 when it was replaced by the present church over the road, and was converted to a burial enclosure. This is located to the south of the enclosed area. In 1628 a burial chapel was erected ‘near the church’ by Alastair Breac MacKenzie for his father John Roy. Subsequent MacKenzie lairds were buried here. There is a record of walls being built around the burial ground in 1727, suggesting that the area was unenclosed before that, and mention of a series of once substantial stone enclosures in the upper part of the burial ground, which may be the remains of an earlier defensive site.

It is recommended that an archaeological Watching Brief be carried out on work in the section of water main renewal passing to the west of the burial ground. This is to ascertain whether any features, either of an earlier defensive structure, or of the unenclosed burial ground or religious site, extend beyond the present enclosing walls, and to examine and record these features to professional standards

16. Iron Slag at NG 807 756, SMR no. NG87NW0003. It is recorded that a few masses of slag have been found near to the entrance to gairloch churchyard, but these are thought not to be the result of iron smelting. It would be of interest to note whether any samples of slag are excavated during work in this section

17. Leabaidh na Ba Baine, Outdoor Meeting Place and Preaching Site at NG 8068 7558, SMR no. NG87NW0015. A natural hollow in the grassy dunes of the golf course, used for outdoor communion services in the 19th century: ‘the bed of the white cow’ scooped out by Fingal as a bed where his white cow might calve according to local legend. This is not a constructed feature, but is of local interest. It is far enough from the road to be unaffected.

18. Well, ‘The Gairloch’ at NG 8092 7523. Associated with a natural recess in the rock, now removed, site of an heroic exploit of Hector Roy, MacKenzie chief of Gairloch around 1500. This well was still visible in the 1880s and is described then as by the roadside just north of the turning to the harbour. It is probably what is indicated by the words ‘An Gairloch’ on the 1st edition OS map. This feature may not have survived modern road widening and other development

19. Ceann an t-Sail, Saltings at NG 8095 7519, SMR no. NG87NW0058. Described as being on both sides of the stream in the NE corner of the bay, and recorded as ‘saltings’ on the 1st edition OS map. Nothing more is known about this activity, but it is probably contemporary with the cod fishing industry before the curing stations were established at badachro and Isle Horisdale. Any archaeological features of this industry are probably west of the road and will be unaffected.

20. Charlestown, Bridge at NG 8106 7518, SMR no. NG87NW0025, Listed C(S) Built in the latter part of the 18th century and widened about 1800. It is now bypassed by the present road and modern bridge, built in 1986. It is unlikely to be affected by water mains renewal work, but should be noted to prevent accidental damage.

21. Charlestown Inn at NG 8110 7516, SMR no. NG87NW0043. Built as an inn in around 1792, originally named Tigh Osda Chean an t-Sail or Kintail Hotel. The cottage opposite the inn on the old loop of the road was used as the post office in the 1880s. The admiralty chart of 1857 does not record this cottage, and shows the inn as possibly a longer building than its present footprint, extending further east. These standing buildings are unlikely to be affected by the present work.

7. Recommendations

Two areas of archaeological concern have been identified by this desk-based assessment:

Site 3. Lonemor, Mial, Smithstown, townships. The concern here is the potential for archaeological features dating to particularly the pre-Crofting period, but also ruinous features of the Crofting period, which have not been identified and which may be adversely affected by the present work. Recent archaeological survey work (Farrell 2002) indicates that there are such features. There is also a slight potential for prehistoric features to have survived within the croft lands (see site no. 6, Mial, Hut Circle)

An archaeological walk-over survey of areas where work is to take place is recommended, but if this proves impractical, a methodology to avoid damage to visible features as much as possible, and to reinstate damaged features such as dykes, should be put in place.

       Site 15. Gairloch Old Burial Ground. The concern here is that features associated with an early Christian establishment, or an even earlier defensive site, may be located outwith the enclosing walls of the burial ground. It is known that the site was not enclosed until 1727. An archaeological Watching Brief is recommended on all work on the section of water main from the point where it crosses the road to the north, to the point whrere it rejoins the road to the south. A Watching Brief will also provide an opportunity to record and collect any traces of iron slag which may be revealed by excavation in this area (site no. 16, Iron Slag), and to investigate the site of the gallows (Site no. 14, Cnoc a’ Chroiche, ‘Gallows Hill’)

Any decisions on further archaeological work on this project should be made in consultation with the senior archaeologist in charge of this project at Highland Council Archaeology Unit.

Catherine Dagg
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